RECEIVED

Mar 27 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

J. Cordell Maddox Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-000027
Case No. 2022-CP-40-06509

The Lofts at Printers Square
Condominium Association,
Inc.,

Respondent,

v.

M Gourmet Group, LLC,

Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Sarah T. Eibling
Paul T. Collins
Blake T. Williams
Nelson Mullins Riley & Scarborough LLP
1320 Main Street, 17th Floor
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 799-2000

Ashia Crooms-Carpenter
Nelson Mullins Riley & Scarborough LLP
301 South College St., Suite 2300
Charlotte, NC 28202
(704) 417-3000

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the circuit court err by granting Respondent's motion for judgment on the pleadings based upon Appellant's Answer despite Appellant's meritorious motion for leave to amend its answer?**

- II. Did the circuit court err by granting Respondent's motion for judgment on the pleadings based upon Appellant's responses to requests for admission despite Appellant's meritorious motion for leave to amend those responses?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On or about June 14, 2011, the Master Deed and Declaration of Covenants, Conditions, Restrictions, Easements, Charges, and Liens for The Lofts at Printers Square Horizontal Property Regime was executed by The Lofts at Printers Square, LLC (the “Master Deed”)¹. (Master Deed; R.____.) The By-Laws of and Articles of Incorporation for The Lofts at Printers Square Condominium Association, Inc. (the “Association” or “Respondent”) are attached as Exhibit B to the Master Deed. The Lofts at Printers Square Horizontal Property Regime includes a condominium property comprised of two (2) Commercial Units² and eleven (11) Residential Units. (*Id.* at Article II, § 2.3; R.____.) The Commercial Units are at ground level and the Residential Units are on levels two and three, directly above the Commercial Units. (*Id.*)

Pursuant to the Master Deed, the owner of each residential unit was assigned use rights for one (1) parking space in the Residential Parking Area. (*Id.* at Article II, § 2.14; R.____) Additionally, all residential and commercial owners, along with their guests and customers, were authorized to park in the Additional Parking Area which has twenty-two (22) parking spaces, subject to the terms of the Parking License Agreement, which is attached as Exhibit F to the Master Deed. (*Id.* at Article II, § 2.1; R.____.) As its name suggests, Commercial Suites A and B were specifically designed for commercial use. The Master Deed expressly provides, “[a]ll Commercial Units shall be used for commercial, non-residential purposes and for ancillary commercial uses in conformity with all applicable codes and ordinances including, without limitation, governmental zoning restrictions, business regulations, and licensing requirements.” (*Id.* at Article V, § 5.3; R.____.)

¹ On or about July 7, 2011, the Master Deed was recorded in the office of the Richland County Register of Deeds. (Compl. ¶ 6; R.____.)

² Commercial Suite A and Commercial Suite B.

Pursuant to the Master Deed, “**the permitted uses and prohibited uses of the Commercial Units set forth in this Section shall not be amended or modified by the Board and no Rules and Regulations which exceed the terms and conditions of this Section, restrict the permitted hours of operation to less than 8 a.m. through 11 p.m., or otherwise unreasonably restrict the commercial use of the Commercial Units shall be effective against the Commercial Units, without the prior written consent of the Owners of the Commercial Units.**” (*Id.* at Article V, § 5.3.2 (emphasis added).)

On or about April 6, 2012, M Gourmet Group, LLC (“MGG” or “Appellant”) purchased Commercial Suite A and Commercial Suite B in The Lofts from The Lofts at Printers Square, LLC. (Compl. ¶ 9; R.____.) The Master Deed was incorporated into the Deed for the conveyance of Commercial Suites A and B to Appellant. (Deed at 2; R.____.) As part of the transaction and inducement for MGG to purchase Commercial Suites A and B, The Lofts at Printers Square, LLC executed a First Amendment to the Master Deed. (MGG’s Proposed Amended Answer ¶ 33; R.____.) Pursuant to the First Amendment to the Master Deed dated April 6, 2012, six (6) parking spaces within the Additional Parking Area were deemed limited common elements of Commercial Suite A and five (5) parking spaces within the Additional Parking area were deemed limited common elements of Commercial Suite B. (First Amendment to the Master Deed ¶ 7; R.____.) The remaining eleven (11) parking spaces within the Additional Parking Area were deemed limited common elements of the eleven (11) residential units. (*Id.*) Pursuant to the First Amendment to the Master Deed, “Declarant and the Association reserve the specific right to reassign parking spaces that constitute a Limited Common Element for each Unit; provided, however, that **the number of parking spaces assigned to each Unit shall not be altered.**” (*Id.* ¶ 12 (emphasis added); R.____.) The First Amendment to the Master Deed also added the following language to

the end of Section 5.3 (Article V) in the Master Deed:

However, notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the foregoing or in this Master Deed, nothing in this Master Deed shall be deemed to prohibit the use of any Commercial Unit as a restaurant or test kitchen, nor shall any Rules and Regulations of the Board unreasonably restrict the use of the Commercial Units so as to preclude their use as a restaurant or test kitchen.

(*Id.* ¶ 9; R.____.)

The First Amendment to the Master Deed did not purport to make any changes to Article V, Section 5.3.2 of the Master Deed. (*See generally* First Amendment to the Master Deed; R.____.)

The First Amendment to the Master Deed was executed contemporaneously with the Deed for the conveyance of Commercial Suites A and B to MGG and was an integral part of MGG's purchase of Commercial Suites A and B. (MGG's Proposed Amended Answer ¶¶ 12, 35; R.____.)

On or about May 19, 2016, Respondent executed the Second Amendment to the Master Deed. (Second Amendment to the Master Deed; R.____.) Pursuant to the Second Amendment to the Master Deed (which is the most recent amendment to the Master Deed), Plaintiff made several changes to the Master Deed, including but not limited to significantly reducing the number of parking spaces assigned to Appellant in direct contravention of the First Amendment to the Master Deed. (*Id.* ¶ 3; R.____.) Pursuant to the Second Amendment to the Master Deed, nine (9) parking spaces were taken away from Appellant, leaving one (1) parking space within the Additional Parking Area as a limited common element of Commercial Suite A, and one (1) parking space within the Additional Parking Area is deemed a limited common element of Commercial Suite B. (*Id.*) The eleven (11) parking spaces within the Additional Parking Area remained unchanged as limited common elements of the eleven (11) Residential Units, but the remaining nine (9) parking spaces that were taken from Appellant within the Additional Parking Area were then deemed general common elements. (*Id.*) Further, the Second Amendment to the Master Deed provides,

“The Board may, in its discretion, adopt Rules and Regulations governing the use of all parking spaces in the Additional Parking Area, including but not limited to spaces constituting Limited Common Elements.” (*Id.*) The Second Amendment to the Master Deed does not purport to make any changes to Article V, Section 5.3.2 of the Master Deed. (*See generally* Second Amendment to the Master Deed; R.____.)

On or about December 29, 2021, Respondent executed Rules and Regulations for The Lofts at Printers Square Condominium Association, Inc. and Rules Enforcement and Fine Policy, which purports to establish various new requirements and restrictions/prohibitions and establish penalties (i.e., fines) for violations of the Rules and Regulations. (*See generally* Rules and Regulations; R. ____.) For example, the Rules and Regulations, require “proper attire” to be worn in the common areas, and outrightly prohibit the following activities: (1) amplified music in the form of disc jockeys, live bands, karaoke machines, vocalists, etc.; (2) smoking and vaping in all common areas and within twenty-five (25) feet of the building; and (3) the discharge of fireworks or other explosive devices of any type in or around building by owners, tenants, occupants, guests, invitees, licensees, agents and contractors of owners; (4) renting units for nonresidential uses, such as special events, functions, and parties. (*Id.* at 2-4; R.____.)

The Complaint

On December 13, 2022, Respondent initiated the underlying action by filing its Complaint for Declaratory Judgment. (Compl.; R.____.) In its Complaint, Respondent alleged that Appellant was in violation of the Master Deed, Bylaws, and Rules and Regulations regarding the Commercial Units and asserted a single cause of action for declaratory judgment seeking an order declaring that the Master Deed, Amendments to it, Bylaws, and Rules and Regulations are valid and enforceable. (*Id.* ¶¶ 24, 28; R.____.)

MGG's Initial Answer to the Complaint

On February 16, 2023, Appellant, represented by Haynsworth Sinkler Boyd, PA (“Appellant’s First Counsel”), filed its initial answer to the Complaint. (Answer; R.____.) Notably, in its Answer, Appellant admitted on information and belief that the Commercial Units are subject to the terms of the First and Second Amendment to the Master Deed. (*Id.* ¶¶ 16, 18 (emphasis added); R.____.) In response to Respondent’s allegations that “[a] valid and enforceable” First and Second Amendment to the Master Deed was executed and recorded in the Office of Richland County Register of Deeds, Appellant admitted only Respondent’s allegations consistent with the public records of Richland County, South Carolina and expressly denied the remaining allegations inconsistent therewith. (*Id.* ¶¶ 15, 17; R.____.) In its Answer, Appellant stated that it was “*without information sufficient to form a belief* as to whether the Rules and Regulations were enacted in compliance with the Master Deeds [sic], Plaintiff’s Bylaws, and other governing documents.” (*Id.* ¶¶ 20, 22 (emphasis added); R.____.) Appellant also affirmatively alleged that “to the extent the Rules and Regulations are enforceable against M Gourmet, they have been inconsistently, wrongfully, and unfairly enforced against M Gourmet.” (Answer ¶ 22; R.____.) Appellant disputed Respondent’s allegations that it was in violation of the Master Deed, amendments to it, the Bylaws, and the Rules and Regulations (the “Regime Documents”). (Compl. ¶ 26; Answer ¶¶ 24, 26; R.____.)

MGG's Responses to Requests for Admissions

On February 16, 2023, Appellant also served its responses to Respondents’ Rule 36 requests for admissions which included admissions that the Master Deed, amendments to it, and the Rules and Regulations are valid and enforceable and that the Commercial Units are subject to the terms of the Master Deed, amendments to it, and the Rules and Regulations. (MGG’s

Responses to Requests for Admission ¶¶ 3-8; R. ____.)

Respondent’s Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings

On March 13, 2023, Respondent filed its motion for judgment on the pleadings or in the alternative, for summary judgment based on the allegations in the Complaint, the admissions in Appellant’s Answer, and Appellant’s responses to Respondent’s requests for admission. (Respondent’s Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings; R.____.) In its motion, Respondent argued that the pleadings and the admissions made in Respondent’s responses to Rule 36 requests show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact. (*Id.* ¶ 10; R.____.) Three days after Appellant filed its motion for judgment on the pleadings, Appellant’s First Counsel moved to be relieved as counsel of record and the following day, March 17, 2023, the circuit court entered a consent order relieving Appellant’s First Counsel. (Consent Order; R. ____.)

MGG’s Proposed Amended Answer and Responses to Requests for Admission

On April 14, 2023, Tobias G. Ward, Jr. (“Appellant’s Second Counsel”) made an appearance on behalf of Appellant. Thirteen (13) days later, he emailed counsel for Respondent a copy of Appellant’s proposed amended answer and amended responses to requests for admission. (MGG’s Motion to Amend at 1; R.____.) In its proposed amended answer, Appellant made certain changes which included: (1) a stronger denial of the validity and enforceability of the Second Amendment to the Master Deed (MGG’s Proposed Amended Answer ¶ 16; R.____), (2) qualifying its response to paragraph 22 of the Complaint regarding the enforceability and binding effect of the Rules and Regulations on Appellant (*Id.* ¶ 20; R.____), and (3) adding claims seeking court protection over unfair, prejudicial, and oppressive action by Respondent against Appellant, a minority member, and a declaration that the Second Amendment to the Master Deed is not valid or enforceable and that Respondent may not unreasonably restrict the use of the Commercial Units.

(*Id.* ¶¶ 40-54; R.____.) Appellant also revised its responses to Respondent’s Rule 36 requests for admission to be consistent with its proposed amended answer. (*See generally* MGG’s Proposed Amended Responses to Requests for Admission; R.____.)

MGG’s Motion to Amend

After receiving no response to Appellant’s proposed amendments to its Answer and responses to Rule 36 requests, on August 18, 2023, Appellant moved the circuit court, pursuant to Rule 15, SCRCF, for leave to amend its answer and, pursuant to Rule 36, SCRCF, for leave to serve amended responses to Plaintiff’s requests for admission. (*See generally* MGG’s Motion to Amend; R.____.) In its motion to amend, Appellant argued that because (1) the amendments in the proposed amended answer and amended responses to Rule 36 requests corrected inaccurate statements made by Appellant’s First Counsel and were provided to Respondent almost four months ago, (2) Appellant was represented by new counsel who had a different interpretation of the case than former counsel, and (3) the case had not yet been scheduled for trial, the circuit court should grant Appellant’s motion to amend and allow Appellant to amend its Answer and responses to requests for admission. (*See id.*)

MGG’s Opposition to Respondent’s Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings

On August 30, 2023, Appellant filed its opposition to Respondent’s motion for judgment on the pleadings, asserting, *inter alia*, that (1) even if the circuit court only considered the allegations in Appellant’s Answer (and not its proposed amended answer), Appellant’s defenses (laches, waiver, consent, estoppel, and unjust enrichment) could bar the enforceability of the Regime Documents, which is enough to deny judgment on the pleadings; and (2) that the proposed amendments to the Answer and responses to requests for admission, if permitted or considered by the circuit court, create issues that must be decided before judgment can be granted. (MGG’s

Return to Plaintiff’s Motion or Judgment on the Pleadings at 5, 7; R.____.)

On September 7, 2023, the circuit court heard oral arguments for Respondent’s motion for judgment on the pleadings only. (September 7, 2023 Transcript of Record; R.____.) Subsequently, on December 4, 2023, the circuit court issued an order granting Respondent’s motion for judgment on the pleading. (Order at 9; R. ____.) In the order, the circuit court also found that “MGM’s [sic] motion to amend should be denied.” (*Id.*) This appeal followed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A. Amendment of Pleadings

Rule 15(a) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure (“SCRCP”) provides:

A party may amend his pleading once as a matter of course at any time before or within [thirty] days after a responsive pleading is served or, if the pleading is one to which no responsive pleading is required and the action has not been placed upon the trial roster, he may so amend it at any time within [thirty] days after it is served. **Otherwise a party may amend his pleading only by leave of court or by written consent of the adverse party; ... leave shall be freely given when justice so requires and does not prejudice any other party.**

Rule 15(a), SCRCP (emphasis added). “The prejudice Rule 15 envisions is a lack of notice that the new issue is going to be tried, and a lack of opportunity to refute it.” *Curry v. Carolina Ins. Grp. of SC, Inc.*, 428 S.C. 60, 75-76, 832 S.E.2d 760, 768 (Ct. App. 2019) (internal quotation marks and citations omitted). “The prejudice contemplated in Rule 15 is not that the non-moving party is forced to defend the merits of a valid claim.” *Patton v. Miller*, 420 S.C. 471, 491, 804 S.E.2d 252, 262 (2017). Rather, “Rule 15 prejudice is some result flowing from the amendment that puts the non-moving party at a disadvantage in defending the merits, which disadvantage the party would not have faced if the amended claim had been included in the original pleading or a timely motion to amend.” *Id.* at 491, 804 S.E.2d at 262-63.

The Supreme Court of South Carolina has opined,

‘[Rule 15(a), SCRCPP] **strongly favors** amendments and the court is encouraged to freely grant leave to amend.’ ‘Rule 15(a) is substantially the same as the Federal Rule,’ Rule 15(a), SCRCPP notes, and the Supreme Court of the United States has referred to the Rule’s ‘freely given’ provision as a ‘mandate’ that ‘is to be heeded[.]’”

Patton, 420 S.C. 471, 489-90, 804 S.E.2d 252, 261-62 (2017) (emphasis added) (citations omitted).

Thus, [i]n the absence of any apparent or declared reason—such as undue delay, bad faith or dilatory motive on the part of the movant, repeated failure to cure deficiencies by amendments previously allowed, undue prejudice to the opposing party by virtue of allowance of the amendment, futility of amendment, etc.—the leave sought should, as the rules require, be ‘freely given.’” *Id.* at 490, 804 S.E.2d at 262 (quoting *Foman v. Davis*, 371 U.S. 178, 182, 83 S. Ct. 227, 230 (1962)). “[T]he party opposing the motion has the burden of establishing prejudice.” *Curry*, 428 S.C. at 76, 832 S.E.2d at 768.

“While a motion of this kind is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court, ‘this does not give the trial judge an entirely free hand in what might be termed discretionary matters.’” *Elrod v. Elrod*, 230 S.C. 109, 115, 94 S.E.2d 237, 239 (1956) (citations omitted). Moreover, “a court’s failure to exercise its discretion is itself an abuse of discretion.” *Patton v. Miller*, 420 S.C. 471, 490, 804 S.E.2d 252, 262 (2017). “The trial judge’s finding will not be overturned without an abuse of discretion or unless manifest injustice has occurred.” *Curry*, 428 S.C. at 76, 832 S.E.2d at 768 (internal quotations marks and citation omitted).

B. Amendment of Responses to Requests for Admission

Rule 36(a), SCRCPP provides: “A party may serve upon any other party a written request for the admission . . . of the truth of any matters within the scope of Rule 26(b) . . .” However, an admission may be withdrawn upon application to the court:

Any matter admitted under this rule is conclusively established unless the court on motion permits withdrawal or amendment of the admission. Subject to the provisions of Rule 16 governing amendment of a pre-trial order, the court may permit withdrawal or amendment when the presentation of the merits of the action will be subserved thereby and the party who obtained the admissions fails to satisfy the court that withdrawal or amendment will prejudice him in maintaining his action or defense on the merits.

Rule 36(b), SCRPC. *See also Com. Ctr. of Greenville, Inc. v. W. Powers McElveen & Assocs., Inc.*, 347 S.C. 545, 554, 556 S.E.2d 718, 723 (Ct. App. 2001).

“The trial court may allow a party to amend or withdraw its answers to a request to admit when: (1) the presentation of the merits is furthered by the amendment; and (2) the party who obtained the admission cannot demonstrate prejudice because of the amendment.” *Com. Ctr. of Greenville, Inc.*, 347 S.C. at 557, 556 S.E.2d at 724 (citing Rule 36(b), SCRPC). The first requirement is satisfied where the admission, if not dispositive, involves a “crucial issue” or “key factual elements of [a party’s] causes of action.” *Barber v. Hobbs*, 313 S.C. 319, 321, 437 S.E.2d 409, 410 (Ct. App. 1993) (citing *Baughman v. Am. Tel. & Tel. Co.*, 306 S.C. 101, 110, 410 S.E.2d 537, 542 (1991)). “In assessing whether withdrawal and amendment would promote the presentation of the merits of the action, courts look at whether the proposed amendments will facilitate the development of the case in reaching the truth, as in those cases where a party’s admission[s] are inadvertently made. Courts often find that this prong is met when the deemed admissions effectively resolve the case and upholding the admissions would eliminate any need for a presentation on the merits.” *McGrew v. ASM Glob.*, No. CV 2:20-00086-RMG, 2020 WL 6566462, at *3 (D.S.C. Nov. 9, 2020) (internal quotation marks and citations omitted).³

³ Although the District of South Carolina Court cases cited throughout Appellant’s Initial Brief analyze Rule 36 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, “[t]he federal rule on requests for admissions is substantively similar to [South Carolina’s] rule.” *Scott v. Greenville Hous. Auth.*, 353 S.C. 639, 649, 579 S.E.2d 151, 156 (Ct. App. 2003)

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