RECEIVED

Sep 17 2024

SC Court of Appeals

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

J. Cordell Maddox, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2024-000027
Civil Action No.: 2022-CP-40-06509

The Lofts at Printers Square Condominium Association, Inc.,.....Respondent,

v.

M Gourmet Group, LLC,.....Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Benjamin C. Bruner
J. Webster Hall
Bruner, Powell, Wall & Mullins, LLC
P.O. Box 61110
Columbia, SC 29260
(803) 252-7693
Attorneys for Respondent

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

If the losing party has raised an issue in the lower court, but the court fails to rule upon it, the party must file a motion to alter or amend the judgment in order to preserve the issue for appellate review. *E.g.*, Pelican Bldg. Centers of Horry–Georgetown, Inc. v. Dutton, 311 S.C. 56, 427 S.E.2d 673 (1993); Hoffman v. Powell, 298 S.C. 338, 380 S.E.2d 821 (1989); *see also* Rules 52(b) and 59(e), SCRPC.

I’On, 338 S.C. at 421–22, 526 S.E.2d at 724–25.

In this appeal, M Gourmet presents two issues:

- (1) Did the circuit court err by granting Respondent's motion for judgment on the pleadings based upon Appellant's Answer despite Appellant's meritorious motion for leave to amend its answer?
- (2) Did the circuit court err by granting Respondent's motion for judgment on the pleadings based upon Appellant's responses to requests for admission despite Appellant's meritorious motion for leave to amend those responses?

(App.'s Br. at 1). However, M Gourmet never presented the arguments they make as to either of those issues to the trial court.

In its return filed in opposition to the Association's motion, M Gourmet presented three arguments: (i) that judgment on the pleadings should be denied under the original pleadings; (ii) that judgment on the pleadings should be denied based on the amended answer and amended answers to requests for admission; and (iii) that judgment on the pleadings should be denied because both the plaintiff and defendant are seeking declaratory relief and it will be decided by the court after hearing all the evidence and an adequate time to complete discovery. (R. pp. 176-179.)

At the hearing, M Gourmet argued judgment on the pleadings was improper based on the original pleadings, based on the Association having breached the Master Deed, based on the Rules and Regulations "being enforced inconsistently, wrongfully, and unfairly," and because M Gourmet expected if judgment on the pleadings was denied its motion for leave to amend would be granted. (R. p. 166, lines 8-14 "Although it was filed recently, it was sent to Mr. Bruner at the end of April, shortly after we were retained, and the motion to amend isn't for hearing today, but if Your Honor denies the motion for judgment on the pleadings, we would expect that that motion would be heard in relatively short order, and we'd like to think it would be granted.")

Significantly, however, at no time did M Gourmet object to the hearing moving forward or request a continuance due to its pending motion for leave to amend. Although it had the opportunity to file a Rule 59(e) motion, M Gourmet never did. Now, M Gourmet offers a series of new arguments for the first time on appeal, including that the trial court erred by not even considering its motion for leave to amend. (App.'s Br. at 13 "The circuit court did not consider Appellant's motion to amend in its decision to grant Respondent's motion for judgment on the pleading...the order falls short of *actually* denying Appellant's motion to amend."; see also "[S]ince the circuit court ultimately granted Respondent's motion for judgment on the pleadings without first considering Respondent's motion to amend, the circuit court undoubtedly failed to exercise its discretion.") Stated otherwise, M Gourmet appears to rest its entire appeal on Judge Maddox not granting a motion for leave to amend which M Gourmet never asked him to decide.

Specifically, in its brief M Gourmet argues, inter alia:

- (i) "[t]he circuit court did not consider Appellant's motion to amend," (App.'s Br. at 13); "[t]he circuit court failed to consider Appellant's motion to amend," (App.'s Br. at 19);
- (ii) "the circuit court undoubtedly failed to exercise its discretion," (App.'s Br. at 13);
- (iii) "the circuit court should have considered whether the defendants were prejudiced by the amendment, or whether there was some other substantial reason to deny it, but the circuit court failed to do so in its order," (App.'s Br. at 13);
- (iv) "[t]he assertions in the order that 'the pleadings raise no dispute regarding the validity and enforceability of the Master Deed, First Amendment and Rules and Regulations[,] . . . and that 'MGM [sic] admits in its initial answer . . . that the Second Amendment is enforceable[,] . . .are erroneous.'" (App.'s Br. at 14);
- (v) "the circuit court made several inaccurate factual determinations that unsurprisingly supported its decision to grant Respondent's motion for judgment on the pleadings," (App.'s Br. at 15);

- (vi) “[t]he circuit court’s assertion that ‘the Second Amendment did not remove or take away any spaces’ is erroneous,” (App.’s Br. at 15);
- (vii) “[t]he circuit court granted Respondent’s motion (and thus, by default, denied Appellant’s motion to amend) based on its perception of the merits of the amended claims, not under the criteria for amendment the court was required to consider under Rule 15(a),” (App.’s Br. at 16);
- (viii) the trial court’s finding that granting the motion for leave to amend would be futile “is based on a misstatement of certain facts,” (App.’s Br. at 16);
- (ix) “[t]he circuit court’s assertion that ‘clearly the Master Deed allows for amendments without MGM’s [sic] consent’ is simply inaccurate,” (App.’s Br. at 18);
- (x) “[s]imply put, this is not the rare case where it would be appropriate for the circuit court to deny a motion to amend,” (App.’s Br. at 18);
- (xi) “[t]he circuit court’s failure to consider the Rule 36(b) factors when presented with Appellant’s motion to amend is an abuse of discretion,” (App.’s Br. at 19); and
- (xii) both prongs of the Rule 36(b) analysis regarding the court’s discretion to allow amendments to Rule 36 admissions weigh in favor of M Gourmet. (App.’s Br. at 19-20.)

The Appellant presented none of these arguments to Judge Maddox. It never argued the merits of its motion for leave to amend, never requested a continuance to allow its motion for leave to amend to be heard and decided, and never even asked Judge Maddox for a ruling on its motion despite ample opportunity to do so before, during, and after the hearing. M Gourmet also had the opportunity after it received Judge Maddox’s order to raise all of these issues and alleged errors in a Rule 59 motion to “first try to convince the lower court it has ruled wrongly.” I’On, supra, at 421, 526 S.E.2d at 724. See also Gibbons v. Aerotek, Inc., 441 S.C. 180, 185, 893 S.E.2d 326, 329 (Ct. App. 2023) (“A Rule 59(e) motion would have given Aerotek the opportunity to argue the errors it believed the trial court committed in denying its motion for attorneys’ fees and allowed the trial court to reconsider the *sua sponte* ground and its ruling. However, in the absence of this

motion, such an opportunity was lost. After the trial court issued its order, Aerotek was required to file a Rule 59(e) motion addressing the trial court's finding that Aerotek did not properly authenticate the Employment Agreement.”). However, M Gourmet did not file a Rule 59 motion. Instead, it chose to fire yet another attorney and proceed with this appeal. As a result of its actions, M Gourmet never afforded Judge Maddox “a fair opportunity to rule on the issues, and thus provide [the appellate court] with a platform for meaningful appellate review.” Herron, 395 S.C. at 465, 719 S.E.2d at 642. Rather than provide Judge Maddox that opportunity, M Gourmet simply held the ace card up its sleeve and proceeded with this appeal in hope that this Court would treat Judge Maddox’s order as one denying a motion for leave to amend (despite M Gourmet never asking Judge Maddox to decide that motion). See I’On, supra at 422, 526 S.E.2d at 724. Or perhaps M Gourmet was too busy firing its second attorney and seeking out new representation to timely file the Rule 59 motion. Either way, M Gourmet failed to preserve the issues it presents on appeal. That failure is fatal to its appeal.

II. The Trial Court Properly Granted Judgment on the Pleadings as to the Master Deed, the First Amendment to the Master Deed, and the Rules and Regulations.

M Gourmet argues generally that the trial court erred in granting judgment on the pleadings without deciding M Gourmet’s motion for leave to amend its original answer and its responses to the Association’s Rule 36 requests for admissions. In addition to the arguments above that note M Gourmet’s own failure to raise those issues to the trial court, the Association would show the argument overlooks the absence of any legitimate dispute as to the validity and enforceability of the Master Deed, First Amendment to the Master Deed, and Rules and Regulations.

“A judgment on the pleadings is proper where there is no issue of fact raised by the complaint that would entitle plaintiff to judgment if resolved in plaintiff’s favor.” Sapp v. Ford Motor Co., 386 S.C. 143, 146, 687 S.E.2d 47, 49 (2009). Here, there was no dispute about the validity and enforceability of the Master Deed, First Amendment, and Rules and Regulations. Not only do M Gourmet’s answer and Rule 36 responses—as well as the proposed amendments it sought to file—demonstrate that truth, M Gourmet admits as much in its brief:

While the proposed amendments to the Answer and responses and requests for admissions do admit the *validity* and *enforceability* of the *Master Deed* and *First Amendment* because those were entered as part of the contract of sale and formed the basis of the parties’ bargain...Appellant denies the validity and enforceability of the Second Amendment to the Master Deed and admits only that the Commercial units are subject to the Rules and Regulations *provided* they are: (1) lawfully promogulated and lawfully, fairly and equitably enforced and (2) that they do not unreasonably restrict the use of the Commercial Units.

(App.’s Br. at 16-17 (emphasis in original).) Therefore, M Gourmet does not dispute the validity or enforceability of the Master Deed or First Amendment, and it admits it is subject to the Rules and Regulations. In light of these concessions, the Association would be entitled to the declaratory relief it sought as a matter of law notwithstanding the amendments. The qualified concession as to the Rules and Regulations—that they must be lawfully promogulated and lawfully, fairly and

equitably enforced and that they do not unreasonably restrict the use of the Commercial Suites—is of no moment here because this is not an enforcement action. McCall v. Finley, 294 S.C. 1, 4, 362 S.E.2d 26, 28 (Ct. App. 1987) (“whatever doesn't make any difference, doesn't matter.”). The sole relief sought in this action is to establish, contrary to M Gourmet’s contention, that the regime documents are valid and enforceable. In light of the lack of any dispute over the validity and enforceability of the Master Deed, the First Amendment to the Master Deed, and the Rules and Regulations, Judge Maddox properly granted the Association the declaratory relief it sought as to those documents. The order should be affirmed.

III. The Trial Court Properly Granted Summary Judgment as to the Validity and Enforceability of the Regime Documents.

In addition to granting judgment on the pleadings, Judge Maddox also granted summary judgment as to the Association’s request for a declaratory judgment that all the regime documents, including the Second Amendment, are valid and enforceable.

In his Order, Judge Maddox held in pertinent part,

Finally, [M Gourmet] has raised no allegation or dispute that the Association failed to follow the protocols outlined in the Master Deed when it gave notice of and voted on the Second Amendment. Even considering [M Gourmet] changing attorneys, it has had ample time to conduct discovery and provide some evidence to avoid summary judgment, yet [M Gourmet] has failed to point to any genuine issue of material fact regarding the adoption and validity of the Second Amendment. See, e.g., Rule 56(c), SCRCP, and Kitchen Planners, LLC v. Friedman, 440 S.C. 456, 463–64, 892 S.E.2d 297, 301 (2023) (“[I]t is not sufficient for a party to create an inference that is not reasonable or an issue of fact that is not genuine.”) (internal citation and quotation omitted). **After considering the pleadings, exhibits incorporated into the pleadings, the admissions on record, and even the proposed admissions, I find no genuine dispute of fact that the regime documents, including the Second Amendment, are valid and enforceable. The Association is entitled to summary judgment, as requested in its original motion.** See Rule 12(c), SCRCP (“If, on a motion for judgment on the pleadings, matters outside the pleadings are presented to and not excluded by the Court, the motion shall be treated as one for summary judgment and disposed of as provided in Rule 56, and all parties shall be given reasonable opportunity to present all material made pertinent to such a motion by Rule 56.”), and Rule 56(c), SCRCP.

(R. pp. 7-8 (emphasis added).) The Court’s ruling was based not only upon the allegations in the complaint, M Gourmet’s answer, and M Gourmet’s proposed amended answer but also on the substance of the one hundred twenty-one pages of regime documents that were included as exhibits to the complaint and contained acknowledgements. See Rule 902, SCRE. M Gourmet had months to conduct depositions or even submit an affidavit to refute the authenticity of the documents, to refute the statements on the face of the documents that they were properly adopted and enacted pursuant to the terms of the Master Deed, or to otherwise create a genuine issue of fact about the validity of the regime documents. See Rule 56(c), SCRCP; Kitchen Planners, 440 S.C. at 463, 892 S.E.2d at 301 (“[I]t is not sufficient for a party to create an inference that is not reasonable or an issue of fact that is not genuine.”); Regions Bank, 354 S.C. at 660, 582 S.E.2d at 438 (“Once the party moving for summary judgment meets the initial burden of showing an absence of evidentiary support for the opponent's case, the opponent cannot simply rest on mere allegations or denials contained in the pleadings. Rather, the nonmoving party must come forward with specific facts showing there is a genuine issue for trial.”). Applying Rule 56(c) and the law governing on summary judgment, Judge Maddox found, based on his rulings, that the Association had carried its burden of proving the regime documents valid and enforceable, and he further held M Gourmet had not carried its burden of coming “forward with specific facts showing there is a genuine issue for trial.” “Despite having ample time to conduct discovery, M Gourmet has pointed to no evidence from which a fact-finder could reasonably find a triable issue exists as to the enforceability of the regime documents.” (R. p. 9.)

It is significant that Judge Maddox granted summary judgment as to the validity and enforceability of *all* the regime documents, including the Second Amendment. (R. p. 8.) M Gourmet presents no argument challenging the trial court’s grant of summary judgment under Rule

56(c), SCRCF. Therefore, that ruling is the law of the case, and Judge Maddox's order should be affirmed on that basis alone. See Atl. Coast Builders & Contractors, LLC v. Lewis, 398 S.C. 323, 328, 730 S.E.2d 282, 284 (2012) ("Under the two issue rule, where a decision is based on more than one ground, the appellate court will affirm unless the appellant appeals all grounds because the unappealed ground will become law of the case.") (quoting Jones v. Lott, 387 S.C. 339, 346, 692 S.E.2d 900, 903 (2010), abrogated on other grounds by Repko v. County of Georgetown, 424 S.C. 494, 818 S.E.2d 743 (2018)); Shirley's Iron Works, 403 S.C. 560, 573, 743 S.E.2d 778, 785 ("An unappealed ruling is the law of the case and requires affirmance."); Gibbons, 441 S.C. at 186, 893 S.E.2d at 329–30 ("Because we hold the trial court's finding regarding the authentication issue is the law of the case, it is, therefore, a ground supporting the denial of Aerotek's motion for attorneys' fees and costs. Accordingly, pursuant to the two-issue rule, we affirm and do not address issue one.") (citing Jones v. Lott, and Atl. Coast Builders & Contractors).

This court should affirm Judge Maddox's decision granting summary judgment.

IV. Other Grounds to Affirm Appearing in the Record.

In addition to the grounds discussed above, "[t]he appellate court may affirm any ruling, order, decision or judgment upon any ground(s) appearing in the Record on Appeal." Rule 220(c), SCACR.

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